DIGGING IN: AN INVESTIGATION OF BURROWING BEHAVIOR IN

MUUSOCTOPUS LEIODERMA

by

Cheyne Michael Springbett

A THESIS

submitted to

WALLA WALLA UNIVERSITY

in partial fulfillment of

the requirements for the

degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

May 2023

ABSTRACT

Burrowing, or movement through soft sediment to form semi-permanent structures, is a common but understudied behavior with large impacts on marine ecosystems. Octopus are a charismatic and intelligent invertebrate group that are expanding in both range and numbers. This thesis focused on *Muusoctopus leioderma*, a typically deep-water and inaccessible burrowing octopus with a shallow-water population in Burrows Bay, WA. This study aimed to explore octopus burrowing by examining *M. leioderma's* burrowing behavior, comparing burrowing performance across taxa, and exploring certain morphological traits linked with burrowing. Comparison of burrowing rate indices between *M. leioderma* and *Octopus kaurna* showed similar burrowing rates in the only two recorded burrowing octopus species, despite differences in temperature and sediment size. Study of *M. leioderma* in the lab corroborated field observations of nocturnal activity, with individuals burrowing at consistent times. Finally, I found phylogenetic evidence of an evolutionary link between known burrowing behavior in benthic octopus species and the keel, a morphological trait colloquially connected to burrowing octopus species. This connection between the keel and burrowing was also supported in an examination of *M. leioderma*, with non-burrowing individuals losing their keel more rapidly and consistently than burrowing individuals.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| ABSTRACT | 2 |
|---|----|
| TABLE OF CONTENTS | |
| INTRODUCTION | 5 |
| Factors Influencing Burrowing | 7 |
| Circadian Rhythms and Burrowing | 9 |
| Functions, Adaptations & Burrowing | 11 |
| METHODS | 15 |
| Overview | 15 |
| Burrowing Performance | 15 |
| In situ Burrow Recording | 15 |
| Literature Review and BRI Comparison | 17 |
| Laboratory Burrowing Behavior | 18 |
| Octopus Collection and Processing | 18 |
| Octopus Holding | 18 |
| Keel and Burrowing | 20 |
| Muusoctopus leioderma Keel | 20 |
| Octopoda Keel | 21 |
| Data Analysis | 22 |
| BRI and Sediment Coarseness | 22 |
| Burrowing Activity | 22 |
| Keel Evaluations | 24 |
| Keel Phylogenetics | 25 |
| Data Availability | 26 |
| RESULTS | 27 |
| In situ Burrowing Performance | 27 |
| Laboratory Burrowing Behavior | 27 |
| Keel and Burrowing | 28 |
| Keel Evaluations | 28 |
| Keel Evolution & Pagel's Test | 29 |
| DISCUSSION | 30 |
| Burrowing Rates & Sediment | 30 |
| Laboratory Tank Activity and Nocturnal Patterns | 31 |
| The Keel & Octopus Burrowing | 34 |
| FIGURES | 38 |
| Fig 1. A flow chart of general methods. | 38 |
| Fig 2. Laboratory setup | 39 |
| Fig 3. Tools to record octopuses in situ. | 40 |
| Fig 4. Keel evaluation key. | 41 |

| | Fig 5. Keel prominence values. | 42 |
|---------------------|---|----|
| | Fig 6. Multi-species phylogenetic tree. | 43 |
| | Fig 7. Radial time histograms of burrow activity. | 44 |
| | Fig 8. Burrowing Rate Indices vs sediment size. | 45 |
| | Fig 9. Octopus moving up and down the burrow shaft. | 46 |
| | Fig 10. Length/weight relationship. | 47 |
| APPENDIX | | 48 |
| Keel Evaluation Key | | 48 |
| ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS | | 50 |
| LITERATURE CITED | | 51 |

INTRODUCTION

Marine sediments are the most expansive and pervasive environments on Earth.¹ These seemingly barren underwater habitats make up roughly 70% of Earth's surface, yet their depths and temperatures make them the least accessible environments possible for humans.¹ These habitats host a diverse range of marine life, and are largely dominated by burrowing organisms, organisms that live below the surface of the sediment bed. Little is known about the behavior and ecology of these marine infauna, as the immense difficulty of examining these habitats has stymied their research.¹

Burrowing organisms utilize diverse strategies to burrow in marine sediments, and modes of excavation depend largely on the strata the organism needs to penetrate.² Muddy sediments are characterized by adhesive (attractive) and cohesive (resisting separation) forces holding grains together with a degree of elasticity.¹ In less pliable sediments such as dense mud, polychaetes burrow by fracture, entering cracks in mud and widening these into larger burrows by exerting force from its body.¹ However, softer, more porous muds require less forceful methods, such as plastic granular rearrangement, where organisms physically displace or move sediment out of their way,² or fluidization, where sediment granules are separated and dispersed in water.²

Octopuses are a diverse and prevalent group of invertebrates found in most marine environments. Charismatic, highly intelligent, and displaying a wide range of novel adaptations for invertebrates, this group plays an important role, both in ecological systems, and in facilitating public engagement and interest in science.³ Octopuses act as both generalist predators and prey, playing crucial roles in trophic webs and ecological health.^{4–6} Cephalopods, including octopuses, are also expanding in range and population.^{6–9} This expansion suggests that their biological significance will continue to grow in the future, and sparks questions about octopus' environmental resilience and adaptation to anthropogenic disruption.

5

The smooth-skinned octopus (*Muusoctopus leioderma*) is a deep-water species and most commonly found between 450-650 meters¹⁰ throughout the northern Pacific ocean from California up to the Sea of Okhotsk off Siberia, and until recently had never been recorded at depths shallower than 70 meters.^{11,12} Yet a population of *M. leioderma* resides in Burrows Bay, WA, an accessible area only 15 meters deep.¹³ This exciting discovery allows for collection and study of live and minimally disturbed benthic octopuses via SCUBA that would normally be inaccessible.

Observation of *M. leioderma* revealed a novel behavioral trait among octopuses. This species is an ecosystem engineer that actively modifies its environment by burrowing, an adaptation allowing organisms to move through and compact soft substrata to form semi-permanent structures.² Burrowing organisms have an unusual level of influence on their environment by directly altering marine sediment biochemistry and structure,¹⁴ and indirectly by impacting co-occurring bacteria, microalgae, macrofauna, seagrasses, and other secondary consumers affected by sediment nutrition.¹⁴ The bioturbation of sediments from burrowing can result in microbiomes ideal for certain microbes and meiofauna that drive nutrient cycling processes.¹⁴ Burrows can also create problems for grazers, filter feeders, and large invertebrates reliant on undisturbed sediments¹, and *M. leioderma's* presence may exert similar levels of influence. ³

Burrowing is a common behavior in both marine and terrestrial organisms, and is used as a strategy for concealment, predation, energetic conservation, and social dynamics.^{15–24} Octopuses are known to burrow as a means to avoid predation,²⁵ but the function of burrowing for *M. leioderma* is still unclear.

These revelations form the basis of several questions circling this species. How and why does this octopus burrow? Why does this octopus burrow when other species in the area do not? How does this octopus compare with other marine burrowers? This

6

species has only been spotted at night, and the highly silty marine sediment bed it occupies makes observation difficult. This thesis represents the first in-depth investigation of the burrowing behavior and performance of *Muusoctopus leioderma*, the first exploration of the keel as a burrowing trait, and one of only two in-depth studies of burrowing in any octopus species.²⁵ I hope that this research may improve our understanding of the biology of octopuses as a crucial group of benthic organisms, as well as the ecological impact of the understudied marine infauna that occupy so much of the global ocean.

Factors Influencing Burrowing

Burrowing in marine organisms is influenced by a range of both biotic and abiotic factors. Burrowing can be quantified and analyzed using measures such as burrow size and shape, the time it takes for a species to burrow, energetic expenditure while burrowing, and ecological impact of the burrows.^{2,26–29} The variables influencing these measurements have different effects on burrowing performance. Burrowing rate is one of the most widely used metrics for evaluating burrowing performance, as it is easily standardized to account for other factors that impact burrowing rate, like body size, making it ideal for interspecific comparison.³⁰

The effect of species has the strongest influence on burrowing rate. For example, worms and crabs have vastly different strategies, morphologies, and abilities allowing those organisms to successfully descend into the sediment layer. Octopuses are cephalopods, a group known for their biological eccentricities. The lack of hard bodily structures (other than the beak), their siphons, their unique skin texture and environmental resilience could potentially give octopuses an edge in developing a successful burrowing strategy. However, these features also make them starkly distinct

from other burrowers, making interspecific comparisons of burrowing performance more of a challenge.

Temperature is another factor known to influence virtually all biological activity and performance, and burrowing is no exception.^{31,32} Low temperatures tends to slow aerobic activity and reduce metabolic work capacity, and consequently there are slower burrowers at higher latitudes.³³

Probably the most significant abiotic factor is the sediment the organism burrows in. Sediments largely dictate the strategies and mechanisms of burrowing, as different sediments will require different solutions. Hard-packed sediments require more forceful tactics such as fracture and crack propagation, while looser sediments like granular sands can be fluidized and/or manipulated by body movement and excavation.^{1,2} Such variety in burrowing sediments means that every burrower expends different amounts of time and energy during the burrowing process, resulting in a wide range of interspecific burrowing rates. *Muusoctopus leioderma* occupies a silty, muddy sediment bed. These soft muds are highly adhesive and cohesive granular solids, and require a strategy of plastic granular rearrangement, or the displacement of sediment grains relative to each other, as crack propagation in such a fine mud would be unfeasible.^{2,26} While another burrowing octopus, *Octopus kaurna*, uses its siphon to fluidize sediment in granular sands, the specific mechanics of *M. leioderma*'s burrowing remains unknown²⁶.

Burrowing rates are also impacted by body size. Larger organisms are forced to displace a correspondingly larger amount of sediment for their burrows, as burrow size is normally proportional to body size.^{34,35} Additionally, the energetic cost of burrowing is proportional to the amount of sediment the organism removes,³⁵ meaning smaller species expend less energy while burrowing. Finally, the inverse relationship between burrowing speeds and energetic expenditure³⁵ translates to a trend of smaller burrowers displacing less sediment, using less energy, and burrowing more quickly compared with

8

larger species. This trend between burrowing rates and body size is not unique to marine burrowers, with a review of over 50 terrestrial mammals showing slower excavation rates (volume of soil removed per unit land per unit time) in larger species.³⁴ Meanwhile, smaller terrestrial burrowing species remove more soil per unit time and area, meaning smaller species not only burrow faster, but also create more burrows.³⁴ It is important to note that because interspecific burrowing performance is variable and subject to so many factors, there are many exceptions to this basic trend between body size, burrowing energetics, and burrowing rates.³⁵

The variability in burrowing performance makes interspecific comparison a challenging prospect. However, by focusing on how some of these factors influence burrowing, I may reveal performance trends across taxa.

Circadian Rhythms and Burrowing

The time of day an organism is active is an important factor to consider when examining its ecological impact, as chronobiology can dictate strategies for predation, navigation, reproduction, and migration.³⁶ While biological clocks of marine organisms can be influenced by tides, wave splash, and seasonal environmental changes, most research into daily activity cues focus on light.^{36,37}

Research into chronobiological influences on cephalopods is well established. Humboldt squid (*Dosidicus gigas*) and the veined squid (*Loligo forbesii*) will drop low into hypoxic zones of the water column, allowing them to avoid predation and target prey at ideal times.^{38,39} This daily migration pattern seems to largely be set by light, allowing the squid to avoid visually-dependent predators, then move up in the water column to feed during darker hours.³⁹

Octopuses' natural activity patterns vary depending on species and environment. For example, *Callistoctopus macropus* is a nocturnal species, and its activity cycle is highly light-dependent.³⁷ Although current research is still limited, light appears to be a primary environmental cue of circadian rhythms in octopuses occupying the photic zone, with some evidence suggesting deep-water species are influenced by light as well.^{37,40} However, it is unclear how light could impact biological clocks in aphotic environments. *Muusoctopus leioderma's* typical depth range (450-650 meters) is within the aphotic zone^{10,41}, so it is possible the species' nocturnal activity is triggered by other cues.

Typical adaptive values of temporal rhythms revolve around interspecific interactions. Benthopelagic coupling is a dynamic in which there are daily movements of organic material by animal movement back and forth between pelagic and benthic environments, and this phenomenon can influence biological clocks of the organisms that consume them.⁴² For larger organisms, the avoidance of predators, controphic competitors, and the targeting of prey at ideal hours can dictate activity cycles.⁴² Octopus diurnal patterns have been hypothesized to be influenced by temporal spacing, with one study finding three sympatric Hawaiian species were utilizing different active times to coexist.⁴³ *Octopus vulgaris* has been a species of chronobiological controversy, with early studies reporting the species as nocturnal, but later studies showing diurnal activity under laboratory investigation.³⁷ This difference is due to *O. vulgaris*'s temporal plasticity, with the octopus modifying its temporal cycle in response to both researchers in the lab, and predators in nature.^{37,44}

The Burrows Bay population of *M. leioderma* has only been spotted at night, but there is virtually no published data on the temporal behavior of this species in a lab setting, and only one published study on the chronobiology of any deep-water octopus.⁴⁰ It is uncertain, as a shallow-water population, whether light will influence this population differentially from deep-water individuals, or if light will act as a daily environmental cue at all. However, a light-controlled study of this octopus may reveal hidden details, such as temporal plasticity or further confirmation of nocturnal behavior. Whether this behavior is driven by engrained circadian rhythms, or is merely an avoidance of light is unclear. Regardless, by examining the temporal patterns of behavior in this species, we may determine the ecological impact of this species' burrowing.

Functions, Adaptations & Burrowing

There are several hypotheses explaining why an organism might burrow, and these vary based on the species and environment. The first suggests that burrowing is a concealment strategy that organisms use to avoid predation.¹⁵ Norway lobsters (Nephrops norvegicus) are assumed to use burrows for this reason¹⁶ as does the hard shell clam (Mercenaria mercenaria,) which burrows to greater depths when confronted by the predacious sea star Asterias forbesi.¹⁷ Another hypothesis explaining burrowing function posits concealment as a predation strategy, allowing organisms to ambush unsuspecting prey.¹⁵ Mantis shrimp (Stomatopoda) "spearers" have been observed hiding in sandy burrows to surprise prey in this fashion.¹⁸ A third hypothesis suggests burrowing is a strategy for energetic conservation, allowing organisms to spend long periods of time immobile and reduce metabolic rate.¹⁵ This hypothesis is especially interesting when considering the interplay between metabolism, ventilation, and hypoxia. Burrows are generally hypoxic environments, and organisms that reside in burrows tend to exhibit hypoxia tolerance.^{19–21} Hypoxia would normally stress organisms and impair aerobic metabolism,²² but burrowing organisms tolerance to hypoxia may enable burrowing as an effective energetic budgeting strategy. Alternatively, burrows may be constructed to allow adequate ventilation of oxygen, allowing for hypoxia intolerant organisms to oxygenate their burrows and effectively conserve energy.²³ Finally, burrows are also sometimes utilized in intraspecific social dynamics, such as the courtship behavior of male fiddler crabs (Uca beebei).²⁴

It is speculated that octopuses burrow to avoid predation⁴⁵ but this idea has not been explored in any detail, and *M. leioderma's* burrowing function in Burrows Bay is unknown. All that is certain is that this octopus species consistently burrows in response to divers in the field, that it burrows in the absence of predators in the laboratory (personal observation), and that it preys on burrowing organisms like polychaete worms.⁴⁶ While this thesis will not directly address the question of burrowing function for *M. leioderma*, it is helpful to keep the various possibilities in mind to contextualize the results of this study.

This thesis is the first study of cephalopod burrowing in muddy sediments. This is important because as mentioned earlier, the modes of excavation depend largely on the type of strata the organism needs to penetrate.² These different methods of burrowing are usually associated with some type of morphological trait that facilitate this behavior. One of the most simplistic examples is the strategy of polychaetes, which burrow in the dense muds they occupy by fracture, entering cracks and widening them into larger burrows by exerting force from its body.¹ More complex organisms have adapted more specialized traits that facilitate effective excavation and movement through sediment. Burrowing requires an organism to be able to initially penetrate the strata, then to be able to extend and expand the burrow without it collapsing. Initial penetration can be achieved by digging up the sediment. Many crustaceans use shovel-like appendages to slowly move sediment particles out of the way.⁴⁷ Spanner crabs (*Ranina ranina*) do this by either digging forward and pushing sediment underneath them as they burrow, or else moving sediment up while driving them downwards posterior-end first.⁴⁷ Other organisms

More porous muds exhibit less adhesion and more fluidity, and burrowers in softer muds use locomotion more akin to swimming. ²⁶ Fluidization refers to propelling fluid upward, bringing sediment up with it and temporarily suspending it in the water.⁴⁸

12

Fluidization is distinct from liquefaction, where sediment settles downward through fluid from gravity, displacing the liquid upwards.⁴⁸ For example, *Octopus kaurna* exhibits fluidization of sandy sediment in its burrowing by blasting the sand with water jetted from its mantle through the siphon, then using its arms to expand and extend the burrow once below the surface.²⁵ This hydraulic method of burrowing by expelling water from the mantle is also seen in bivalves.⁴⁹

Another notable method of burrowing is a system known as cavity expansion, which involves penetrating and burrowing into wet sands by the contraction and expansion of the body.⁵⁰ This method is seen in the Atlantic razor clam (*Ensis directus*). The clam opens internal valves, allowing water to flow in, and then penetrates the sediment with its foot as an anchor point. Then it closes its valves, driving fluid to the foot and expanding it, before immediately retracting it and pulling the valves back towards the anchor, constricting the foot and creating a space that the clam can move through. These novel adaptations allow for the rhythmic expansion and contraction system of burrowing in this organism.⁵⁰

Muusoctopus leioderma does not appear to burrow hydraulically (personal observation) and as an octopus, it lacks the traditional hard burrowing appendages found in other marine and terrestrial burrowers. In addition, the silty sediment found in Burrows Bay makes burrow by fracture an unsuitable burrowing strategy.²⁶ The species' most notable defining characteristic is the presence of a keel, a flap of skin that protrudes from the lateral margin of the mantle.¹³ This trait, while not unique, is fairly novel among octopuses (Fig 6) and has been anecdotally linked to burrowing in octopuses.⁵¹ The keel is essentially just an expandable flap of skin, meaning it lacks muscle tone or rigidity, and is therefore an unlikely candidate as an appendage used directly for excavation. However, the keel's apparent connection with known burrowing octopus species makes it an intriguing point of study as a possible burrowing trait for

benthic octopuses, and may lend clues to the burrowing strategy of *M. leioderma* and other soft-sediment octopuses.

As a final note, burrow maintenance is essential to prevent collapse and increase the longevity of burrows. Marine organisms largely stabilize by simple compaction of substrate, or by secreting a substance that strengthens and/or lubricates the burrow walls, such as with *O. kaurna*.^{15,25} *Muusoctopus leioderma* lacks the mucous secretion capabilities of *O. kaurna*, and its burrowing mechanism appears to be quite distinct from the latter's completely hydraulic method of burrowing, so *M. leioderma*'s mechanism of burrow maintenance is still unknown.

As cephalopods expand their range, understanding how the ways this versatile group can influence habitats, such as burrowing mechanics and the adaptations that enable burrowing in specific substrates, will be essential in understanding the scope of their ecological influence.

METHODS

Overview

The goal of this project was to determine how *Muusoctopus leioderma* burrows in the wider context of marine organisms, and this was accomplished by tackling three key concepts. First, I examined this species' relative burrowing performance by measuring the rate of burrowing *in situ* via SCUBA, and comparing these rates with other burrowing organisms to see what abiotic factors may influence burrowing performance. Next I wanted to better understand this octopus's general burrowing behavior by exploring what time of day this octopus tends to burrow and when they enter and exit their burrows in the lab using motion detecting cameras. Finally, I investigated what role the keel plays in burrowing by 1) examining how keel morphology of captured *M. leioderma* corresponds with burrowing in the lab and 2) performing a phylogenetic correlation analysis of keels in known burrowing and non-burrowing octopuses to determine if this trait is associated with burrowing in octopuses.

Burrowing Performance

In order to determine the burrowing performance of *M. leioderma*, I measured how quickly they burrowed *in situ*. Octopus burrowing events were recorded at night by SCUBA divers using GoPro Hero 7 and Hero 8 cameras. The GoPros were equipped with parallel-oriented lasers to provide a known scale to accurately measure octopus mantle length from video using ImageJ.

In situ Burrow Recording

The burrowing rate index (BRI) was determined for each instance of *M*. *leioderma* burrowing that was recorded. BRI has been previously used in burrowing octopuses and many other burrowing organisms.^{25,30} Dives measuring BRI data *in situ* were separate from collection dives because BRI calculations required collecting burrowing times, and octopuses are exceptionally difficult to collect after they burrow. When an octopus was spotted, divers followed and recorded it until it burrowed and throughout the burrowing process. After the octopus finished burrowing, divers moved on to find other octopuses, as individuals don't typically reemerge from their burrows quickly. The start of burrowing was marked by when the octopuses pressed their arms into the mud to initiate burrowing, and ended when the octopus fully submerged below the surface of the sediment bed. Roughly half of recorded burrowing events were actually octopuses retreating into pre-made burrows, as opposed to making their own, and these premade burrows were marked during data entry into Google Sheets, and excluded from the final calculation of *M. leioderma*'s mean BRI.

Burrowing Rate Indices (BRIs) are calculated using the equation:

$$BRI = \frac{\sqrt[3]{Wet Weight}}{Burrowing Time} \times 10^2 .^{30}$$

ImageJ software was used to measure mantle lengths of the burrowing octopuses using laser dots as a known size reference. Mantle lengths were then used to estimate octopus wet weight using the relationship between measured lengths and weights of 8 octopuses (2 were excluded for missing lengths or weights) from the mud tanks using linear regression in R. Then, the predict function was used to estimate the wet weight of recorded burrowing octopuses based on their mantle lengths using the linear regression determined from captive octopuses. Burrowing times in seconds were calculated using the formula: Burrowing Time = Burrow End Time - Burrow Start Time.

Sediment coarseness is also a factor in burrowing performance ^{52,53} which necessitated a measurement of sediment found in Burrows Bay. Sediment was collected from the surface of the sediment bed in Burrows Bay, and was measured using standard wet-sieving by lightly running water over sediment and shaking sediment on scientific grade sieves, until water ran clear.

These data were then used to get a mean BRI for *M. leioderma*. To contextualize this data to understand its significance, *M. leioderma's* BRI was then compared with other burrowing organisms, including the only other burrowing octopus with published data on its burrowing behavior, *Octopus kaurna*²⁵.

Temperature was also compared between *O. kaurna* and *M. leioderma*. Temperatures in Burrows Bay were recorded using an Oceanic Proplus 4 dive computer, and these readings were validated using the temperature probe from a Barrow YSZY-01 water chiller.

Literature Review and BRI Comparison

BRIs from 26 burrowing organisms (not including *M. leioderma*) in different sediment types were collected from published literature.^{33,52–57} BRIs of *O. kaurna* were collected by extracting data points of raw BRIs in three sediment grades from a figure²⁵ using G3Data software, then calculating the mean in Google Sheets.

BRIs of the crustaceans *Emerita analoga*, *Lepidopa californica*, and *Blepharipoda occidentalis*⁵⁷ were calculated from the published linear regressions of BRI vs. carapace length of each species using the middle point of the carapace length range using the equation $\frac{Highest Range-Lowest Range}{2}$. For ranges given as greater than or less than (i.e. carapace length greater than 10 cm) the lower or upper limit provided was used (i.e. 10 cm).

Laboratory Burrowing Behavior

Next, I studied *M. leioderma*'s burrowing behavior in more depth by examining them in a laboratory setting.

Octopus Collection and Processing

Octopuses were collected from Burrows Bay, Skagit County, WA at 48°28'12" N, 122°40'53" W by SCUBA. Once found, they were captured and returned to Rosario Beach Marine Laboratory (RBML) in re-sealable plastic storage bags filled with saltwater. Upon arrival, octopuses were sexed, weighed, and assigned a name. Lengths were also obtained in the laboratory using the same laser dot camera method used to measure lengths during BRI recordings *in situ*. These data, along with species, date caught, depth, the tank number the octopus were to be placed in, and any notes were recorded digitally on a Google Sheet entitled "Octopus Collection Record 2022". Then octopuses were immediately transferred to a 61 cm x 33 cm x 41 cm acrylic aquarium, or "mud tank", filled approximately halfway with sediment from Burrows Bay for their 24-hour laboratory acclimation period. The time that octopuses begin this acclimation period, along with the date, sex, name, and tank were recorded in Sheets.

Octopus Holding

Aquaria or "mud tanks" were connected to RBML's seawater system to provide fresh saltwater. Tanks were modified for a flow-through system, with an inflow and passive outflow (Fig 2a). Tanks outflow lines ran to a single plastic tub with a sump pump connected to a float switch, allowing all tanks to have short lines and consistent outflow to a single drain. Light levels in Burrows Bay and tanks were measured using a LI-1400 data logger and light probe. For *in situ* measurements, the probe was dropped to the bottom of Burrows Bay where researchers normally search for octopuses in about 15 meters of water during peak daylight hours on a sunny day. The tanks' individual light arrays were measured by dropping the probe midway into the sediment tanks, above the sediment layer. These lights were diffused green LEDs, controlled by a Raspberry Pi Pico microcontroller, and powered by a DC wall socket. Each mud tank was equipped with a light array programmed to brighten and dim closely following a diurnal cycle approximating what occurs naturally (Fig 2b). Peak brightness hours and ramp down periods were calculated using "sunriset" function from the maptools R package,⁸² using July 31, 2022, a date roughly halfway through our data collection period, as a set date, and Burrows Bay, Skagit County, Washington, USA as our set location. Peak brightness for the light arrays was chosen by selecting an intermediate light level for this species' known brightness range, with *in situ* measurements in Burrows Bay representing the maximum, and complete darkness as the minimum. There were also red light sources that allowed nighttime photography of octopuses when the green lights were off without disturbing them. *Muusoctopus leioderma*'s eyes are non-reactive (no discernable pupillary response) to red light (Onthank, personal communication).

Mud for the tanks was collected directly from Burrows Bay either by SCUBA or using box core sampler or Van Veen grab samplers. Octopuses were held for at least 12 days, then periodically released by divers while new individuals were collected.

Mud tanks had motion-activated cameras utilizing custom software run on Raspberry Pi-type single-board computers based off of work by Onthank Lab graduate student, Jesse Humbert.⁵⁸ Cameras captured high resolution images triggered by octopus movement which provided temporal information on when the octopuses are moving above the surface of the mud and actively burrowing. Active times, the times of day when *M. leioderma* were triggering the motion cameras above the sediment, was the primary measure of activity. Details on image analysis are documented in the Data Analysis section.

Keel and Burrowing

Finally, I wanted to understand morphological adaptations in this species associated with burrowing. Specifically, I investigated the role of the lateral mantle skin ridge, or "keel". This was done on two fronts: first on the species level with captured *M. leioderma* to determine the persistence of keels in burrowing versus non-burrowing octopuses in captivity, and second on the order level, with a phylogenetic analysis of multiple octopus species.

Muusoctopus leioderma Keel

After their initial acclimation period, captured individuals were periodically evaluated for keel prominence. The data collection involved taking images of the octopus's keel with an iPhone 12 mini. Target keel days were days 2, 6, and 12 in captivity. However, keels could not be photographed when the octopus was in its burrow, so occasionally octopuses would have to be photographed later, as soon as the octopus was visible. Images were normally taken either in the early morning, or late at night. Octopuses were kept in treatment for a target of 3 keel collection dates in the mud tanks, although time restraints forced treatment to end early in some cases. After completing their treatment in the mud tanks, individuals were transferred to non-light controlled plastic containers, or "Octocondos," connected to RBML's saltwater system to await return and release to Burrows Bay via SCUBA, and allowing new octopuses to begin treatment. In some cases, the octopuses never emerged from their burrow after their initial burrowing event. These octopuses were dug out of their burrows after 10-20 days. Occasionally, such as when octopuses needed to be dug out from their burrows, images for keel evaluations were collected after octopuses were transferred to the Octocondos, and this was noted in the data. Later, octopuses were categorized into two groups; burrowers, or octopuses that consistently burrowed below the sediment layer, and non-burrowers, or octopuses that did not burrow in captivity.

Keels were evaluated later using a key I created for this purpose. Initial attempts to measure the keel quantitatively using ImageJ were unsuccessful due to the fine degree of difference in such a small trait. Therefore, I evaluated keels qualitatively based on 5 levels of prominence, with a 0 or "Missing" being a completely absent keel, and a 4 or "Very Prominent" being the strongest level of prominence (Fig 4).

The key provided descriptions of distinctions between each of the levels of prominence, as well as multiple images highlighting those differences. Keels were evaluated independently by myself and 3 undergraduate volunteers, and the consistency of the evaluations was examined (see Data Analysis). These were blind evaluations, meaning evaluators did not know if images were of burrowing or non-burrowing octopuses, and they lacked access to other evaluators' results. Details of the comparison between burrowers and non-burrowers can be found in the Data Analysis section.

Octopoda Keel

Phylogenetic analysis of the occurrence of keels across the order Octopoda in relation to burrowing was accomplished using visual identification of keels as "Present" or "Absent" by examining images from literature, species descriptions and reaching out to species-specific experts. These species were classified as "known to bury or burrow" or "not known to bury or burrow." The octopus species selected for analysis were all benthic species with known genetic sequencing of the cytochrome oxidase subunit 1 (COI), cytochrome oxidase subunit 3 (COIII), 12S, and/or 16S genes obtained from GenBank. These genes were chosen because they provided the best coverage of the most number of species, and each of these species had sequences of one or more of these genes available, sufficient for an alignment. Species lacking genetic sequencing, or that lacked data on both keels and burrowing behavior, were mostly deep water

species with very little research focus, and these were omitted from the analysis. The final tree included 110 total species. Octopuses in which only keel presence was unknown, the keel was considered missing. Octopuses in which only burrowing behavior was unknown were considered "not known to bury or burrow". Evolutionary correlation between mantle keel and burrowing or burying behavior were tested using Pagel's test in R.

Data Analysis

These methods produced datasets that required statistical analysis to calculate the significance of their results. All statistical tests were performed using R.⁵⁹ All data entered into the "Muus Data Master" sheet were pulled into R using the googlesheets4 package.⁶⁰

BRI and Sediment Coarseness

After obtaining burrowing rate indices for *Muusoctopus leioderma* from video recordings, and the other organisms from literature, I examined how burrowing rates changed in different sediments by plotting results with log burrowing rate index on the y-axis and sediment granule size in micrometers on the x-axis. All organisms cited from the literature had BRIs measured in multiple sediments of various granule sizes, while *M. leioderma* was only measured in its native sediment. Sediment coarseness values were translated from phi to micrometers using the EMMAgeo package⁶¹.

Burrowing Activity

Ex situ mud tanks provided data on what time of day these animals are active and out of their burrows, and when they were burrowed below the strata surface. Field observations of Burrows Bay *M. leioderma* are largely at night, and we expected the data to corroborate this. These images also provided temporal data on more specific behavior, such as times of day when octopuses exited and entered their burrows.

A team of undergraduates and I analyzed 61,164 images collected by the cameras. Observers would open a folder with the octopus's name, and find folders labeled with the date the images contained in those folders were taken. Each image was labeled according to the date and time it was taken. For example,

"00110__TE_D20220727_T201459_pi_triggercam_001" is the 110th image in that folder, taken on July 27 2022 at 20:14:59." Observers would copy and paste these file names into the Muus Data Master sheet under "Tank Activity" for every image containing an octopus in frame, along with their name, the octopus name, its tank number, and any comments. The octopuses' mantle lengths and weights were recorded in a separate sheet in the Muus Data Master sheet under ML/W, and burrower/non-burrower statuses were recorded in the Keel Prominence sheets.

The cameras were designed to only collect data of active octopuses, octopuses moving above the sediment layer. However, the cameras were occasionally triggered by other things, like small invertebrates moving in the tanks, or lighting changes, and these images had to be filtered out of the final analysis. Images were filtered by assigning the designation of "People" to images in which someone was in the lab and possibly disturbing the animals, or "Idle" for images triggered by small movements by the octopus or its surroundings during times when the octopus was immobile and inactive. Those images were ignored when pulling data into R.

Images in which someone was in the lab and possibly disturbing the animals were also removed. For non-burrowing octopuses, many times these individuals would spend long periods of time immobile and inactive, but small movements by the octopus or its surroundings would trigger images. These periods of inactivity were also filtered out, leaving only images of active octopuses for analysis. Activity time data were plotted as radial histograms using the CircularTimeHistogram R package.⁶² The differences in activity between nighttime and daylight hours were tested for statistical significance using a chi-squared test, and were examined for Entering/Exiting events, and for burrowing and non-burrowing individuals.⁵⁹ Differences in nocturnal activity between burrowers and non-burrowers were tested using a test of equal or given proportions using the stats package in R.⁵⁹

Keel Evaluations

Each observer had their own private sheet to perform evaluations independently from other observers. These results were averaged to get keel prominence values for each keel measurement of all individual octopuses. Individual octopuses were split into two groups based on burrowing status as burrowers and non-burrowers. Keel evaluations were categorized as either mud tank or Octocondo evaluations. Individuals that had one or fewer keel measurements were excluded because keel loss could not be determined. Octopuses' keel prominence was compared with how many days it had been held in captivity, which was calculated using the dates of octopus collections and keel evaluations.

To test consistency between evaluators, we calculated an intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) as an index of interrater reliability. ICC was run as a two way consistency model using the irr package in R.⁶³

Statistically significant differences in keel prominence between burrowing and non-burrowing octopuses were analyzed using a Linear Mixed Effect (LME) model from the nlme package in R.⁶⁴ This is because these data are hierarchical, meaning I have multiple observations nested under a single octopus, and non-independent, since I took multiple keel evaluations of the same octopuses. The LME model also accounted for two

different keel measurement scenarios; mud tanks or Octocondos. This model was analyzed using an Wald Chi-Squared test from the car R package.⁶⁵

Keel Phylogenetics

Genetic sequences were obtained from GenBank using the read.GenBank function from the ape R package using accession numbers⁶⁶ for benthic octopus species with known sequencing of COI, COIII, and 16S, as these 3 genes provided the best genetic coverage of benthic octopuses. Sequences were aligned using the AlignSeqs function from the DECIPHER package.⁶⁷ This allowed for the creation of a NEXUS file that could then be used in creating the final tree. For each of the three genes, a model test was conducted with the phangorn package for each codon position independently, so the dataset could be partitioned into each of the three codon positions.⁶⁸ All of the above, the pulling of sequences, alignment, NEXUS file creation, was all performed for each of the target genes.

The resulting files were combined into a single nexus file and a MrBayes command block generated using a custom BASH script. This file was then used for the final analysis and production of the multi-gene tree using MrBayes.⁶⁹

To test for a statistically significant evolutionary relationship between keel presence/absence and known burrowing behavior, the multi-gene tree was analyzed using Pagel's Test. Pagel's test examines the independent evolution of 2 binary characters by comparing a ratio of likelihoods of two models.⁷⁰ One model assumes the rate of change in each trait we are measuring evolved independent of the state of the other, while the other assumes the rate of change in one trait is dependent on the other. Pagel's test was run using the phytools R package.⁷¹

Data Availability

In situ burrow recording videos and keel evaluation photos were stored redundantly on my personal laptop and an external hard drive. Temporal burrow behavior data from the mud tanks were stored both on sd cards housed in the Raspberry Pi cameras, as well as on the external hard drive.

Data collected from these images and videos during analysis was recorded and stored using Google Sheets. Google sheets automatically keeps infinite records of every modification made to a datasheet, and every previous version is restorable in case of accidental data deletion. All these data, including keel evaluations, burrow times, mantle lengths and weights, burrowing status, tank activity, and interspecific BRI data were stored in the Muus Data Master datasheet. Surveys of octopus taxa with keels and known burrowing behavior were stored in the "Octopus burrowing" datasheet.

All R code used in data analysis was continually updated/uploaded online via GitHub. Finalized code for interspecific burrowing rates can be found at <u>https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.8021581</u>. Finalized code for *Muusoctopus leioderma* temporal tank activity can be found at <u>https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.8021836</u>. Finalized code for *Muusoctopus leioderma* keel evaluations can be found at <u>https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.8021840</u>. Finalized code for octopus keel phylogenetic analysis can be found at <u>https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.8021847</u>.

The image data will be available on request. High resolution photos and video data are too large for online data repositories, but will eventually be stored in the Walla Walla University Biology Department.

RESULTS

In situ Burrowing Performance

Muusoctopus leioderma recorded a mean BRI of 14.3 based on 8 individuals. Burrowing times of those individuals were varied (9.73-39.09 seconds). There were also 20 individuals recorded going into pre-made burrows not included in the BRI calculation. This BRI was slower than *O. kaurna's* fastest BRI in 500 um sediment, but faster than BRIs recorded in 750 um and 1500 um (17.0, 11.5, 5.1). These BRIs were measured in similar water temperatures (*M. leioderma* 10 C, *O. kaurna* 14 C) and used similarly sized octopuses (3-57 g, 12-53 g).

Literary review of BRIs across marine taxa revealed a wide range of BRIs (0.001-128.24) with most species burrowing fastest at an intermediate sediment grain size, and gradually becoming less efficient in both coarser and finer sediments, and demonstrating a non-linear relationship between BRI and sediment granule size. Ideal burrowing sediments varied by species, but most species followed a similar non-linear trend.

Laboratory Burrowing Behavior

Octopuses followed consistent clear patterns of activity while held in captivity. All 10 octopuses were more active during the night than day, which is consistent with field observations (Chi-squared test for given probabilities, $X^2 = 9981$, df = 1, p-value < 0.001, n = 43649). This pattern became even more apparent when focusing on octopuses that were actively burrowing ($X^2 = 6509$, df = 1, p-value < 2.2e-16, n = 10617). Six out of ten individuals burrowed in captivity, with at least one octopus burrowing in each of the five tanks. A comparison of burrowing vs non-burrowing activity patterns showed burrowing individuals followed a stronger pattern of nocturnal activity compared with

non-burrowers, with the proportion of activity during the day being significantly different from non-burrowers (Two-sample test for equality of proportions with continuity correction, $X^2 = 1279$, df = 1, p-value < 0.001, n = 43649). It appears that octopuses may also enter (X^2 test for given probabilities, $X^2 = 10.09$, df = 1, p-value = 0.001491, n = 27) and exit (Chi-squared test for given probabilities, $X^2 = 9.0133$, df = 1, p-value = 0.00268, n = 24) their burrows more frequently at night than during the day (Fig 7).

In situ peak light conditions were recorded a maximum level of 65.54 umol photons/second/square meter (65.01-65.54). Mean tank light measurements were recorded at 1.3463 umol photons/sec/sq m (0.8048-1.931).

Keel and Burrowing

Keel Evaluations

Keel evaluations of captive octopuses showed a clear effect of burrowing on keel prominence. Keel evaluations were conducted blindly and independently by four observers, and results were consistent (ICC = 0.913, p-value < 0.001, 95%-Confidence Interval: 0.85 < ICC < 0.953).

Average keel prominence values of the linear mixed effects model with an Wald Chi-Squared analysis showed a statistically significant interaction between days and burrowers ($X^2 = 4.6648$, df = 1, p-value = 0.03079). There was also a significant effect of day on keel prominence ($X^2 = 4.3657$, df = 1, p-value = 0.03667). Non-burrowing octopuses lost their keel more rapidly than burrowing octopuses (Fig 4, $X^2 = 4.6648$, df = 1, p-value = 0.03079). In addition, the analysis found that whether the image was taken in the mud tank or in the Octocondo after removal from the mud tank did not have a significant effect on these results (linear mixed-effect model, $X^2 = 0.8436$, p-value = 0.35837).

Keel Evolution & Pagel's Test

I found evidence of an interdependent evolutionary relationship between the presence of a keel and known burrowing behavior in benthic octopus species (Fig 6, Pagel's test, AIC = 188.4336, likelihood ratio = 20.5514, p-value = 0.000388571).

DISCUSSION

Burrowing Rates & Sediment

Muusoctopus leioderma had a comparable burrowing rate when compared with Octopus kaurna, with M. leioderma burrowing faster in some sediments, but slower in others. These two species offered an interesting comparison, as they were essentially the same body size, one of the key factors in relative burrowing performance³⁴. The main differences between the two were environmental. Temperature is a key factor in metabolic processes and energy expenditure. Metabolic rates, and the functions and behaviors they drive have been shown to be slower in populations occupying colder waters than warmer ones³¹. Octopus kaurna's BRI was measured in similar, but slightly warmer temperatures than *M. leioderma*²⁵. However, the impact of temperature on burrowing performance in marine organisms is highly variable. Many burrowing organisms have shown to be significantly slower in polar environments compared with biologically similar species occupying more temperate and tropical waters.³³ Others demonstrated interspecific burrowing performance unaffected by changes in temperature.⁷² Muusoctopus leioderma and O.kaurna occupy very similar marine climates,⁷³ yet O. kaurna's slightly warmer water temperatures could explain a performance difference in ideal sediments. It may also be possible that *M. leioderma* could be compensating for colder temperatures, or that octopus burrowing performance is not directly reliant on temperature-dependent physiological reactions, as is the case in some bivalves⁷². However, I have yet to measure *M. leioderma* in varying sediment grades, so all I can say for now is that the two species burrow at similar rates in somewhat similar temperatures.

One of the biggest factors influencing burrowing performance is sediment coarseness, as a borrower's sediment granule size and adhesive properties largely

dictate burrowing mechanics and strategies². These variable burrowing strategies inevitably produce variable burrowing rates between species, while sediment granule size also impacts intraspecific performance (Fig 8).^{33,52–57,72} Review of existing literature shows a non-linear relationship between sediment size and BRI among marine burrowers, with organisms burrowing fastest in intermediate sediment coarseness, then getting slower in both finer and coarser sediments. The performance loss in coarser sediments is logical, as coarser sediments will require more effort to displace. Meanwhile, silty sediments like in Burrows Bay are highly adhesive and cohesive, and this added resistance to the organism may explain the drop in BRIs in finer sediments. *Muusoctopus leioderma* BRIs were only measured in its native sediment (<220 um). However, BRIs of other marine organisms tested in variable sediments form a nonlinear pattern or curve. When compared to the similarly sized O. kaurna's BRIs (measured in 500um, 1000um, and 2000um sediment), *M. leioderma's* measured BRI is consistent with this curve (Fig 8). This suggests that the relative influence of sediment on burrowing performance may be consistent across marine taxa, with differences in ideal sediments being largely species-dependent. Future studies should involve testing M. leioderma in varying sediment grades and temperature ranges.

Laboratory Tank Activity and Nocturnal Patterns

My results support field observations that *M. leioderma* is a nocturnal species. Nocturnal behavior is common among octopuses⁷⁴, but recent studies have suggested that some previously identified nocturnal species may in fact be diurnal,^{37,58} and that other factors, such as constant laboratory lighting and stress from researchers during the day, and rest and reprieve at night, caused octopuses to be misclassified as nocturnal. My tanks were light-controlled, and set at a peak daytime brightness well within the range of that experienced by *M. leioderma* in the wild, which ranges from 65 umol photons/sec/sq m at about 15 meters in Burrows Bay, the shallowest and presumably brightest known depth for this species,^{11,75} all the way down to approximately 0 umol photons/sec/sq m at 1400m, it's maximum known depth,¹⁰ and well within the aphotic zone.⁴¹

M. leioderma in the laboratory showed octopuses being most active at peak darkness hours (Fig 7). This pattern of inactivity during the day was consistent for both burrowing and non-burrowing octopuses, with non-burrowers remaining stationary and inactive in the corners of the tank during daylight hours. However, this pattern was noticeably stronger in burrowing octopuses. This may simply be due to non-burrowing individuals being more susceptible to disruption from people entering the lab during the day. However, non-burrowing octopuses also demonstrated a weaker, but still significant pattern of nocturnal activity, suggesting that this pattern is driven both by the effect of burrowing and some other circadian system. Entering and exit events were also non-random, occurring mostly at night. Octopuses would move in and out of their burrows throughout the night, although this activity was most concentrated around the beginning and end of the nightime cycles.

This consistent cycling of activity at set times brings up questions about the chronobiology and circadian rhythms in this species. This focus of this study was burrowing activity, so we did not directly search for evidence of an endogenous biological clock. However, the fact that this species followed temporal patterns consistent with field observations tells us that captive individuals were responding to light because of one of three possibilities. One, this octopus has endogenous circadian rhythms that were cued daily by the mud tank lights. Two, the octopus is merely adverse to light, so it burrows and/or reduces activity in response to light as a stressor. Three, captives were insensitive to our lighting system and merely continued to follow their temporal patterns that were entrained by another cue before collection. Further research would be

necessary to parse out the answer. However, the reason for the response is beyond the scope of this study. The octopus is still following a pattern of burrowing consistent with field observations, and this pattern is stronger with burrowing individuals. The pattern is consistent, and this at shows that *M. leioderma* is temporally regimented, unlike the temporal plasticity shown in *Octopus vulgaris*.⁴⁴

Adaptive advantages of nocturnal activity and daytime burrowing behavior for M. *leioderma* in Burrows Bay are still not clear. There appears to be a generally higher amount of organismal activity in Burrows Bay above the sediment layer at night, with crabs, shrimps, and other benthic organisms more abundant during darker hours (personal observation). Night may therefore be a more advantageous period for predation. Controphic competition could also be a factor. Octopus rubescens is another common octopus in the Puget Sound, and this species is known to follow diurnal activity patterns.⁵⁸ This observer noted and recorded an individual *O. rubescens* in Burrows Bay, which raises questions about possible interactions between these two species. However, this is the first record of *O. rubescens* being spotted in Burrows Bay, and the octopus was found in the early evening, in an area closer to shore than where we normally search for *M. leioderma*. In addition, we did not observe any *M. leioderma* in the area during that dive. It is therefore extremely premature to hypothesize any kind of dynamic, such as temporal spacing, between the two species. However, future research in the area should remain vigilant of any co-occurrences between these two species. Regardless, these results will help serve as a baseline to better understand how this octopus interacts with other organisms in Burrows Bay, and facilitate conclusions about its ecological impact as a bioturbating organism in future studies.

Finally, observers also noticed that octopuses would periodically move up and down the burrow shaft in their tanks, with arms or tops of the mantles visible at the burrow entrance, but not fully out (Fig 9). This could be compacting behavior involved in

33

strengthening the burrow to avoid collapse. Maintenance is important for burrow stability, and *M. leioderma* lacks the mucus secretion utilized by *Octopus kaurna* to maintain its burrows.²⁵ Compaction is a common method of maintenance for burrowing organisms,^{15,76,77} so this may represent a potential mechanism for this species.

The Keel & Octopus Burrowing

Perhaps the most interesting aspect of the study was the exploration of the keel as a possible morphological trait associated with burrowing. Tackling the question on multiple fronts allowed for independent methods in evaluating the question, both narrowly on the species level, and broadly on the group level.

First, in burrowing captive *Muusoctopus leioderma*, I saw a significant interaction between the effect of octopus burrower/non-burrower status and number of days in the mud tank on keel prominence, meaning that the condition of an octopus being a burrower or non-burrower impacted how keel prominence changed over time. Specifically, I saw a stronger negative relationship between keel prominence and time in captivity for non-burrowers than for burrowers (Fig 5). This suggests that the keel is better maintained when octopuses continue burrowing in captivity. The mechanism behind this is still unclear, as the precise function of the keel is still unknown. It is possible that the keel is a "use it or lose it" type of trait, and that the keel disappears when the octopus does not continue the behavior. The keel loss could also be a result of stress from captivity, and that burrowing individuals were less prone to stress in their tanks, despite the minimal disturbance and light-controlled nature of the experiment.

Next, I broadened my focus to benthic octopuses as a whole to explore the possibility of an evolutionary relationship between known burrowing behavior and keel presence. Pagel's test is a statistical test that compares models of evolutionary relationships between binary traits, and this test revealed that the model of best fit for the

phylogenetic tree was one of interdependence, suggesting the two traits co-evolved. While keels have been anecdotal linked to burrowing in octopuses⁵¹, this is the first study to provide phylogenetic evidence of a link between the two traits. This alone does not prove that the keel is a burrowing trait, but combined with the examination of keel regression in *M. leioderma*, these data together point towards a connection. As cephalopod research continues to grow and we learn more about benthic species, this survey can be expanded to improve our understanding of this relationship.

The next step is to think critically about the mechanisms at play in burrowing octopuses. If we are to assume that the keel is in fact a trait connected with burrowing, then what exactly is this trait doing? Burrowing takes place in sediment and it is extremely difficult to see what's happening below the sediment layer in an octopus burrow. It is therefore unclear what exact function the keel may perform in the burrowing process.

It was originally speculated that the keel may act as a kind of rudder, allowing the octopus to orient and guide itself into and/or through the sediment,⁵¹ hence the name "keel." Octopus keels are essentially a flap of skin with very little rigidity or structure, so it is less likely that it functions directly as an excavating appendage to displace sediment. However, the extra skin is the only external textural feature in this species, as *M*. *leioderma* lacks any papillae or other prominent skin texture. This unusually smooth and streamlined profile is ideal for burrowing, as it may help to reduce resistance from marine sediment. The keel is the only thing that disrupts this low resistance body shape, but the notion that this skin is being used to displace sediment is unlikely.

Instead, the keel may be involved in improving the efficiency of burrowing. In general, there are advantages for burrowing organisms with smaller body sizes. Smaller animals are faster and expend less energy in making their burrows compared to larger organisms.^{35,78} However, there are also advantages to constructing a larger burrow. For

example, a larger burrow would allow for improved water flow and could reduce the risk of anoxia in such a confined environment. The width of a burrow is usually proportional to the size of the organism,⁷⁹ but larger individuals burrow more slowly⁵² and expend more energy than smaller individuals.^{35,78} A keel may help to offset these issues while allowing the octopus to build a larger burrow.

To accomplish this, the keel may act as an extra reservoir of skin that allows the octopus to expand its mantle during the burrowing process. Octopuses expand and retract their mantles as part of the normal respiration process, and octopus skin is very flexible, normally retracting into a highly textured skinscape of papillae or folds.⁸⁰ *M. leioderma's* skin texture is concentrated at the lateral margin of the mantle, but the mantle still expands and retracts during respiration. It's possible that the extra skin allows the octopus to expand its body size while burrowing beyond what would be possible otherwise, allowing for a disproportionately large burrow, and an overall less resistive skinscape for burrowing. Additionally, mantle expansion may also be a part of this octopus's overall burrowing strategy. The razor clam (*Ensis directus*) utilizes a strategy of bodily expansion and retraction in its burrowing, and it is possible that *M. leioderma* could be burrowing in a similar way.⁵⁰

The elastic nature of octopus skin may also explain the loss of keels in captive non-burrowers. Individuals no longer expanding their mantles during burrowing could show reduced keels as the extra skin is pulled back into the mantle from disuse. There is currently no research on the impacts of inactivity on octopus skin, but inactivity in humans results in reduced skin elasticity, muscle mass, tone, and alteration of skin and muscle fiber composition.⁸¹

Alternatively, the keel may just be an adaptation connected with *M. leioderma's* smooth skin to improve sediment resistance. Next steps would involve trying to get *M. leioderma* to burrow in a transparent medium in the laboratory to document the keel

36

below the sediment, and to investigate interspecific variation in mantle plasticity and skin texture to explore connections between octopus skin and burrowing behavior.

FIGURES



Fig 1. A flow chart of general methods.



b)



Fig 2. Laboratory setup showing a) Individual mud tank schematic and b) labeled photograph of the entire lab's water, camera, and lighting system, with all 5 experimental mud tanks shown.



C)

Fig 3. Tools to record octopuses *in situ*. a) I measured mantle lengths with lasers (black holes on edges of housing) with known distances, set in 3D printed housings, connected to batteries. Lasers were accurate to 10 ft and tested before dives. b) Lasers, camera, and light were attached to a 3D printed mount designed by Alnavasa at Thingiverse. Lasers and batteries were housed in PVC housing with acrylic lenses. c) Mantle lengths were measured using ImageJ, finding the center of the laser dots and setting the scale with a line tool, then using the scale to measure distances between the center of eyes and the apex of the mantle.





Fig 4. Keel evaluation key. Keels were rated as Very Prominent (4), Prominent (3), Apparent (2), Weak (1), or Missing (0, not shown). Pictures and descriptions were used in differentiating levels of prominence, and keels were evaluated blindly and independently with low inter-observer error (ICC two-way, consistency model, type = average, ICC=0.913, p-value = 2.55e-20). The full key is shown in the Appendix.



Fig 5. Keel prominence values vs time in captivity for burrowing and non-burrowing individuals. Individual shapes connected by thin lines show keel prominence for individual octopuses during captivity, with blue showing burrowing individuals, and red showing non-burrowers. Thick lines show results of LME. Results show a significant interaction between burrowing and day, with non-burrowing octopuses losing their keels faster than non-burrowers (Wald X², days:burrow, X² = 4.6648, df = 1, p-value = 0.03079).



Fig 6. Multi-species phylogenetic tree showing results of Pagel's binary character correlation test between keel presence and known burrowing/burying behavior. ARD substitution model used between dependent and independent model rate matrices of 4 possibilities; burrowing, non-burrowing, keel, no keel. Results show interdependence to be the model of best fit (AIC=188.4336, likelihood-ratio = 20.5514, p-value = 0.000388571).



Fig 7. Radial time histograms showing frequency of photos triggered for tank activity for A) burrowing octopuses ($X^2 = 6509$, df = 1, p-value < 2.2e-16, n = 10617), B) all tank activity for non-burrowing octopuses ($X^2 = 4.775$, df = 1, p-value < 2.2e-16, n = 33032), C) octopuses entering burrows ($X^2 = 10.09$, df = 1, p-value = 0.001491, n = 27), and D) octopuses exiting burrows ($X^2 = 9.01$, df = 1, p-value = 0.00268, n = 24). Yellow shows daylight hours, blue shows nighttime hours, and red number of pictures taken at each hour. Burrowers demonstrated a stronger pattern of nocturnal behavior compared with non-burrowers, with a significantly different proportion of activity in daylight/nighttime hours between the two groups (Two-sample test for equality of proportions with continuity correction, X-squared = 1279, df = 1, p-value < 0.001, n = 43649).



Fig 8. Burrowing Rate Indices vs sediment size in 27 marine burrowing species, including two octopus species shown in shades of green, bivalves in blues, and crustaceans in reds, with each color showing a different species. Burrowing efficiency follows a non-linear pattern across taxa, with burrowing rates peaking at an ideal sediment, then dropping in coarser and finer sediments. *M. leioderma* appears to follow this pattern, showing a slower BRI (14.32243) in fine mud (< 220 um) when compared with *O. kaurna's* fastest BRI (17.03979978) in coarser sediment (500um). Tested *M. leioderma* and *O. kaurna* were similar sized (3-57 grams, 12-53 grams) in similar water temperatures (10 C, 14 C).



Fig 9. Octopus repeatedly moving up and down the burrow shaft. Octopus arms and/or activity partway out of burrows is visible in yellow boxes.



Fig 10. Length (in centimeters)/weight(in grams) relationship for 8 collected *Muusoctopus leioderma*. Residual standard error: 8.931 on 7 degrees of freedom, multiple R-squared: 0.8542, adjusted R-squared: 0.8334, F-statistic: 41.01 on 1 and 7 DF, p-value: 0.0003658.

APPENDIX

Keel Evaluation Key

Very Prominent (VP): Keel is highly distinctive and easily seen as a flap of skin protruding strongly from the lateral mantle. Keel appears as a ring of skin protruding strongly from the mantle when observed dorsally (from above) and the area of the skin extends beyond a simple skin line or ridge. Keel would likely "flap" if octopus were in motion.



Prominent (P): Keel is distinctive and easily seen as a small skin fold protruding from the lateral mantle. Keel appears as a thick line protruding strongly from the mantle when observed dorsally. Keel is more robust than a simple skin ridge, but would likely not "flap" if octopus were in motion.



Apparent (A): Keel is visible as a ridge of skin protruding from the lateral mantle. Keel appears as a narrow line protruding from the mantle when observed dorsally. Keel is apparent as a skin ridge, but does not demonstrate excess flappy skin.



Weak (W): Keel is faintly visible as a line of skin, but does not protrude from the mantle. Keel is not readily observable from a dorsal view, and can only be seen upon close examination of the lateral mantle.

Missing (M): No distinctive lateral mantle ridge line is visible. Keel is completely missing from the octopus and no line can not be readily seen from any view.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I'd like to thank my graduate advisor, Dr. Kirt Onthank, for all his help in this project. I'd also like to thank my committee, Dr. Jim Nestler and Dr. Cecilia Brothers for all their help and advice, as well their diving support. Thanks to all the Walla Walla University and Maine Maritime Academy scientific divers who helped collect data. I'd also like to thank the octopus researchers that answered my questions and provided their insight and expertise. Additionally, a big thank you to the American Academy of Underwater Sciences for their financial support of this research. Finally, thank you to WWU and Rosario Beach Marine Lab for hosting me during this Master's project.

LITERATURE CITED

- Dorgan, K. M., Arwade, S. R. & Jumars, P. A. Burrowing in marine muds by crack propagation: kinematics and forces. *Journal of Experimental Biology* **210**, 4198–4212 (2007).
- Dorgan, K. The biomechanics of burrowing and boring. *The Journal of experimental biology* 218, 176–183 (2015).
- Misra, M. & Miller, M. L. Marine conservation tourism and the Giant Pacific Octopus: A SWOT analysis of two public engagement programs and the viability of a hybrid program at the Seattle Aquarium, Washington, USA. *Regional Studies in Marine Science* 52, 102231 (2022).
- Piatkowski, U., Pierce, G. & Morais da Cunha, M. Impact of cephalopods on the food chain and their interaction with the environment and fisheries: an overview. *Fisheries Research* 52, 5–10 (2001).
- 5. Xavier, J. C. *et al.* Future challenges in cephalopod research. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom* **95**, 999–1015 (2015).
- ICES. Working Group on Cephalopod Fisheries and Life History (WGCEPH). (2020) doi:10.17895/ICES.PUB.6032.
- Ramos, J. E. *et al.* Reproductive capacity of a marine species (*Octopus tetricus*) within a recent range extension area. *Marine and Freshwater Research* 66, 999–1008 (2015).
- Domínguez-Contreras, J. F., Ceballos-Vázquez, B. P., Hochberg, F. G. & Arellano-Martínez, M. A new record in a well-established population of *Octopus hubbsorum* (Cephalopoda: Octopodidae) expands its known geographic distribution range and maximum size. *American Malacological Bulletin* **31**, 95–99 (2013).
- 9. Doubleday, Z. A. et al. Global proliferation of cephalopods. Current Biology 26,

R406-R407 (2016).

10. Conners, M. E., Conrath, C. & Aydin, K. Assessment of the Octopus Stock Complex in the Bering Sea and Aleutian Islands.

http://www.afsc.noaa.gov/refm/docs/2012/bsaiocto.pdf (2014).

- Hochberg, F. G. Class Cephalopoda. in *Taxonomic Atlas of the Benthic Fauna of the Santa Maria Basin and the Western Santa Barbara Channel Vol 8* (eds. Scott, P. V. & Blake, J. A.) vol. 8 175–235 (Santa Barbara Museum of Natural History, 1998).
- Conners, M. E., Aydin, K. & Conrath, C. Assessment of the Octopus Stock Complex in the Bering Sea and Aleutian Islands. 56 (2016).
- Kore, L. G., Johnson, B. M., Hayden, M., Winters, M. & Onthank, K. L. 4 The odd octopus: morphological and molecular identification, burrowing 5 behavior, and temperature preference of a deep-water octopus found in a 6 shallow-water bay. 35.
- Pillay, D. & Branch, G. Bioengineering effects of burrowing thalassinidean shrimps on marine soft-bottom ecosystems. in *Oceanography and Marine Biology* (ed. Gordon, J.) vol. 20115434 (CRC Press, 2011).
- Faulkes, Z. Morphological adaptations for digging and burrowing. in *Functional Morphology and Diversity* (eds. Watling, L. & Thiel, M.) 276–295 (Oxford University Press, 2013). doi:10.1093/acprof:osobl/9780195398038.003.0010.
- Rice, A. L. & Chapman, C. J. Observations on the burrows and burrowing behaviour of two mud-dwelling decapod crustaceans, Nephrops norvegicus and Goneplax rhomboides. *Marine Biology* **10**, 330–342 (1971).
- Doering, P. H. Reduction of Sea Star Predation by the Burrowing Response of the Hard Clam Mercenaria mercenaria (Mollusca: Bivalvia). *Estuaries* 5, 310–315 (1982).
- 18. deVries, M. S., Murphy, E. A. K. & Patek, S. N. Strike mechanics of an ambush predator: the spearing mantis shrimp. *Journal of Experimental Biology* **215**,

4374-4384 (2012).

- Onthank, K. L., Trueblood, L. A., Schrock-Duff, T. & Kore, L. G. Impact of shortand long-term exposure to elevated seawater Pco₂ on metabolic rate and hypoxia tolerance in *Octopus rubescens*. *Physiological and Biochemical Zoology* **94**, 1–11 (2021).
- 20. Ivy, C. M. *et al.* The hypoxia tolerance of eight related African mole-rat species rivals that of naked mole-rats, despite divergent ventilatory and metabolic strategies in severe hypoxia. *Acta Physiol* **228**, (2020).
- Barros, R. C. H., Abe, A. S., Cárnio, E. C. & Branco, L. G. S. Regulation of breathing and body temperature of a burrowing rodent during hypoxic–hypercapnia. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology* 138, 97–104 (2004).
- Thomas, Y. *et al.* Effects of hypoxia on metabolic functions in marine organisms: Observed patterns and modelling assumptions within the context of Dynamic Energy Budget (DEB) theory. *Journal of Sea Research* 143, 231–242 (2019).
- Quintana, C. O., Hansen, T., Delefosse, M., Banta, G. & Kristensen, E. Burrow ventilation and associated porewater irrigation by the polychaete Marenzelleria viridis. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* **397**, 179–187 (2011).
- Christy, J. H. Pillar Function in the Fiddler Crab Uca beebei (II): Competitive Courtship Signaling. *Ethology* 78, 113–128 (2010).
- Montana, J., Finn, J. K. & Norman, M. D. Liquid sand burrowing and mucus utilisation as novel adaptations to a structurally-simple environment in *Octopus kaurna* Stranks, 1990. *Behaviour* (2015) doi:10.1163/1568539X-00003313.
- Dorgan, K. M., D'Amelio, C. & Lindsay, S. M. Strategies of burrowing in soft muddy sediments by diverse polychaetes. *Invertebrate Biology* **135**, 287–301 (2016).
- 27. Xu, L., Snelling, E. P. & Seymour, R. S. Burrowing energetics of the Giant

Burrowing Cockroach Macropanesthia rhinoceros: An allometric study. *Journal of Insect Physiology* **70**, 81–87 (2014).

- Gingras, M. K., Pemberton, S. G., Dashtgard, S. & Dafoe, L. How fast do marine invertebrates burrow? *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology* 270, 280–286 (2008).
- 29. Gingras, M. K., Pickerill, R. & Pemberton, S. G. Resin Cast of Modern Burrows Provides Analogs for Composite Trace Fossils. *PALAIOS* **17**, 206–211 (2002).
- Stanley, S. M. Relation of Shell Form to Life Habits of the Bivalvia (Mollusca).
 (1970) doi:10.1130/MEM125-p1.
- Brown, J. H., Gillooly, J. F., Allen, A. P., Savage, V. M. & West, G. B. TOWARD A METABOLIC THEORY OF ECOLOGY. *Ecology* 85, 1771–1789 (2004).
- McLachlan, A. & Young, N. Effects of low temperature on the burrowing rates of four sandy beach molluscs. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* 65, 275–284 (1982).
- Peck, L. S., Ansell, A. D., Webb, K. E., Hepburn, L. & Burrows, M. Movements and burrowing activity in the Antarctic bivalve molluscs Laternula elliptica and Yoldia eightsi. *Polar Biology* 27, 357–367 (2004).
- Haussmann, N. S. Soil movement by burrowing mammals: A review comparing excavation size and rate to body mass of excavators. *Progress in Physical Geography: Earth and Environment* 41, 29–45 (2017).
- Wu, N., Alton, L., Clemente, C., Kearney, M. & White, C. Morphology and burrowing energetics of semi-fossorial skinks (Liopholis spp.). *Journal of Experimental Biology* **218**, 2416–2426 (2015).
- 36. Naylor, E. *Chronobiology of marine organisms*. (Cambridge University Press, 2010).
- 37. Meisel, D. V. et al. Contrasting activity patterns of two related octopus species,

Octopus macropus and Octopus vulgaris. *Journal of Comparative Psychology* **120**, 191–197 (2006).

- Rosa, R. & Seibel, B. A. Metabolic physiology of the Humboldt squid, *Dosidicus gigas*: implications for vertical migration in a pronounced oxygen minimum zone.
 Progress in Oceanography 86, 72–80 (2010).
- Cones, S. *et al.* Swimming behaviors during diel vertical migration in veined squid Loligo forbesii. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 691, 83–96 (2022).
- Cobb, C. S., Pope, S. K. & Williamson, R. Circadian rhythms to light-dark cycles in the lesser octopus, *Eledone clrrhosa*. *Marine and Freshwater Behaviour and Physiology* **26**, 47–57 (1995).
- 41. Karleskint, G., Turner, R. & Small, J. W. *Introduction to Marine Biology*. (Thomson, 2006).
- 42. Aguzzi, J. Activity rhythms in the deep-sea: a chronobiological approach. *Front Biosci* **16**, 131 (2011).
- Bennice, C. O., Brooks, W. R. & Hanlon, R. T. Behavioral dynamics provide insight into resource exploitation and habitat coexistence of two octopus species in a shallow Florida lagoon. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* 542–543, 151592 (2021).
- 44. Meisel, D. V., Kuba, M., Byrne, R. A. & Mather, J. The effect of predatory presence on the temporal organization of activity in Octopus vulgaris. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* **447**, 75–79 (2013).
- 45. Norman, M. Cephalopods: a world guide. (ConchBooks, 2000).
- 46. Pekar, K. WHAT DO DEEP-SEA OCTOPUSES EAT IN SHALLOW WATERS? DIETARY ANALYSIS OF MUUSOCTOPUS LEIODERMA USING STABLE ISOTOPES AND FECAL ANALYSIS.
- 47. Faulkes, Z. The Locomotor Toolbox of the Spanner Crab, Ranina ranina

(Brachyura, Raninidae). Crustaceana 79, 143–155 (2006).

- Lowe, D. R. Subaqueous liquefied and fluidized sediment flows and their deposits. *Sedimentology* 23, 285–308 (1976).
- Trueman, E. R. The burrowing activities of bivalves. in *Zool. Soc. London* Symposium vol. 22 167–186 (1968).
- 50. Huang, S. & Tao, J. Modeling Clam-inspired Burrowing in Dry Sand using Cavity Expansion Theory and DEM. *Acta Geotech.* **15**, 2305–2326 (2020).
- 51. Norman, M. & Reid, A. Guide to squid, cuttlefish and octopuses of Australasia. in *Guide to squid, cuttlefish and octopuses of Australasia* 17, 33, 35, 62, 77 (CSIRO publishing, 2000).
- 52. de la Huz, R., Lastra, M. & López, J. The influence of sediment grain size on burrowing, growth and metabolism of Donax trunculus L. (Bivalvia: Donacidae). *Journal of Sea Research* **47**, 85–95 (2002).
- 53. Alexander, R. R., Stanton, R. J. & Dodd, J. R. Influence of Sediment Grain Size on the Burrowing of Bivalves: Correlation with Distribution and Stratigraphic Persistence of Selected Neogene Clams. *PALAIOS* **8**, 289–303 (1993).
- Nel, R., McLachlan, A. & Winter, D. P. E. The effect of grain size on the burrowing of two Donax species. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* 265, 219–238 (2001).
- Fiori, S. M. & Carcedo, M. C. Influence of Grain Size on Burrowing and Alongshore Distribution of the Yellow Clam (*Amarilladesma mactroides*). *Journal of Shellfish Research* 34, 785–789 (2015).
- Sun, T. *et al.* The effect of substrate grain size on burrowing ability and distribution characteristics of *Perinereis aibuhitensis*. *Acta Oceanol. Sin.* **38**, 52–58 (2019).
- 57. Dugan, J. E., Hubbard, D. M. & Lastra, M. Burrowing abilities and swash

behavior of three crabs, Emerita analoga Stimpson, Blepharipoda occidentalis Randall, and Lepidopa californica Efford (Anomura, Hippoidea), of exposed sandy beaches. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* **255**, 229–245 (2000).

- Humbert, J. W., Williams, K. & Onthank, K. L. Den-Associated Behavior of Octopus rubescens Revealed by a Motion-Activated Camera Trap System. *Integrative and Comparative Biology* 62, 1131–1143 (2022).
- R Development Core Team. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. (2008).
- 60. Bryan, J. googlesheets4: Access Google Sheets using the Sheets API V4. (2022).
- 61. Dietze, M. & Dietze, E. *EMMAgeo: End-Member Modelling of Grain-Size Data*. (2019).
- 62. Onthank, K. L. CircularTimeHistogram: Circular Time Histograms. (2021).
- 63. Gamer, M., Lemon, J. & Singh <puspendra.pusp22@gmail.com>, I. F. P. *irr:* Various Coefficients of Interrater Reliability and Agreement. (2019).
- Pinheiro, J. C. & Bates, D. M. *Mixed-Effects Models in S and S-PLUS*. (Springer, 2000). doi:10.1007/b98882.
- 65. Fox, J. & Weisberg, S. An R Companion to Applied Regression. (Sage, 2019).
- Paradis, E. & Schliep, K. ape 5.0: an environment for modern phylogenetics and evolutionary analyses in R. *Bioinformatics* 35, 526–528 (2019).
- 67. Wright, E. S. Using DECIPHER v2. 0 to analyze big biological sequence data in R. *R Journal* 8, (2016).
- Schliep *et al.* Intertwining phylogenetic trees and networks. *Methods in Ecology* and Evolution 8, 1212–1220 (2017).
- Huelsenbeck, J. P. & Ronquist, F. MRBAYES: Bayesian inference of phylogenetic trees. *Bioinformatics* 17, 754–755 (2001).

 Exercise 9: Testing for an evolutionary correlation between binary characters using Pagel's (1994) method.

https://www.phytools.org/Cordoba2017/ex/9/Pagel94-method.html.

- 71. Revell, L. J. phytools: An R package for phylogenetic comparative biology (and other things). *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* **3**, 217–223 (2012).
- Morley, S. A., Peck, L. S., Tan, K. S., Martin, S. M. & Pörtner, H. O. Slowest of the slow: latitudinal insensitivity of burrowing capacity in the bivalve Laternula. *Mar Biol* 151, 1823–1830 (2007).
- Peel, M. C., Finlayson, B. L. & McMahon, T. A. Updated world map of the Köppen-Geiger climate classification. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences* 11, 1633–1644 (2007).
- Gutnick, T., Kuba, M. J. & Di Cosmo, A. Neuroecology: Forces that shape the octopus brain. *Current Biology* 32, R131–R135 (2022).
- 75. Trueblood, L. A. *et al.* Bathyal octopus, Muusoctopus leioderma, living in a world of acid: First recordings of routine metabolic rate and critical oxygen partial pressures of a deep water species under elevated pCO2. *Front. Physiol.* **13**, 1039401 (2022).
- Kneer, D., Asmus, H. & Vonk, J. A. Seagrass as the main food source of Neaxius acanthus (Thalassinidea: Strahlaxiidae), its burrow associates, and of Corallianassa coutierei (Thalassinidea: Callianassidae). *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science* **79**, 620–630 (2008).
- 77. *Lifestyles and feeding biology*. (Oxford University Press, 2015).
- Lovegrove, B. G. The Cost of Burrowing by the Social Mole Rats (Bathyergidae)
 Cryptomys damarensis and Heterocephalus glaber: The Role of Soil Moisture.
 Physiological Zoology 62, 449–469 (1989).
- 79. Schlacher, T. A. *et al.* Estimating animal populations and body sizes from burrows: Marine ecologists have their heads buried in the sand. *Journal of Sea*

Research 112, 55-64 (2016).

- Madan, J. & Wells, M. Cutaneous respiration in Octopus vulgaris. *Journal of experimental biology* **199**, 2477–83 (1996).
- Demangel, R. *et al.* Early structural and functional signature of 3-day human skeletal muscle disuse using the dry immersion model. *The Journal of Physiology* 595, 4301–4315 (2017).
- 82. Bivand, R. & Lewin-Koh, N. *maptools: Tools for Handling Spatial Objects*. (2022).